THE MAN

1} Childhood

Fugens Gladstone O'Neill was born on October 6, 1888, in
& Broadway hotel roomy, in Times Bquare, New York. His parents,
leading a roving existence, could neot provide him with an ordinary
heme life to which most normal children sre accustomed, James
O'Neill, his father, was an actor who won fame in romentic roles
and was alweys on the road, His wife, Ella Quinlan 0'Feill, and
their child accompanied him wherever he went, Up to the age orf
seven, Bugene O'Neill was familiar with only actors and their way
of life, He grew up to hate the world of falge sentiment charace
terized by tlke kind of rlays in which his father acted, such as
"Tre Count of Mcnte Cristo', "The Three Muske teers", etc, His
childhood mode of life was unsuitable in many ways for a youngster
because it was an irregular one3 he had to follow his father to
every town wherever the touring COMpany wasg té perform for a onew
night stand, Moet of the tHime young Eugene 0'Neill apent in the
company of his Scotdlsh nurse, Sarah, who was with him until he
Was seven years old, and from whom he received some measure of
maternal warmth, She enterteined the lonely <¢hild with sordid
episcdes from the latest mumders and her imaginative tales of
horror, The details of the careless upbringing by his parents
were later written down in one of O'Neill's moat famous plays,
Long Dav's Journey Into Night (1939413}, an autobiographical
drama. Both James snd Ella O0'Neill had to keep up vith their

gocial activities, leaving young O'Neill behind, not in a



comfortable home but in temporary residences like second-class
hotels, guest houses or camps. The boy did not have a proper
home which every child should have. All these factors provided
essential elenents in the making of 0'Neill as a dramatist,

The other thing which had equal significance in the
development of his character was his loss of faith, &t seven,
his father sent him to a boarding school conducted by the
Jisters of Charity at Mount St. Vincent-on-Hudson at Riverdale,

New York. There, he acquired a Catholic conscience that runs

strongly through his plays; for example in -Days Witheyut End -
(1931-1934), John Loving turns to God and obtains forgiveness,
During his early years at this school, he became a devoted
Catholic and was about to receive his first Holy Communion when,
after one of the sisters had gone with him and his friends to
see his father in *The Three Musketeers", she was so horrified
at their going to the'"wicked" theatre thst she refused to let
Bugene and his friends receive Communion the next morning. This
shattering experience helped to build up the feeling of un-
worthiness in the heart of a sensitive twelve.year-old boy. He
felt that he was not responsible and the punishment suggested
that his father was wicked and unacceptable in the eves of the

church.

The other important cause that instilled the sense of
humiliation and of being unwented was wﬁén he found ocut that he
was welcomed into the world oniy as a substitute for his dead
brother Edmund. Soon he would be told that his birth had been

the cause of his mother's pain and that she had used morphine
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to alleviate the pain. He felt responsible for her addiction to
drugs which later provided the rcason for his faltering faith.
When he first knew of his mother's addiction he turned to
prayer and hoped that God would cure her; obtaining no response,
he was convinced that God was cold and indifferent, he was
disillusicned and then lost his faith, &ll the details of this

critical point of hia life were demonstrated clearly in »Day s

Without End:, together with his regretful expression of the loss
and the yearning to regain it,

Eugene QO'Neill had all these bitter experiences when he
was only thirteenj his loneliness, his feeling of being out of
place, unwanted and insecure colored his whele life and occurred
again and again, This can bec seen in all his plays.

In 1900, he was transferred to De La Salle Institute in
Manhattan andlived at 'home™ which, then, was a hotel room at
S8ixty~Eighth Street, New York., Two years later he entered Betts
Academy in Stamford, Connecticut, and stayed there for four years,
It preovided him with his only formsl education of a higher order,
also introduced him to the literary world, He did well in Orcek
and Roman history which were stressed as a background of elassical
languages and which was to be the inspiration for his tragedies,
He -also began reading seriously., He read Tolstoi, Dostoewski,
Kipling, Shaw, the moderm French writers and Oscar Wilde, Jo se ph
Conrad and Jack Lendon fascinated him and he dreamed of going to
sea,l It was also at this time that Jamie, Q'Neill's elder
brother, introduced him to woridly experiences, especially women

and liquor, His years at Betts Academy can be presumed to have
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been a rather happy period which he later portrayed in his only

full-length comedy ‘' Ah, Wilderness! .

Eugene O'Neill entered Princeton on September 20, 1906,
but was suspended nine months later, allegedly for being drunk
and hurling stones into the stationmaster's house.° Hg together
with his companions were swmmoned before the Discipline Committee
and were punished with a four-week suspension, He decided not
to return, He felt then that he was not in touch with 1ife or
on the trail of real things, He began his self-education by
reading, spent many hours in "The Unique Book Shop™, on New York's
31xth Avenue, It belonged to Benjamin R, Tutker who was a New
Englander of colonial and Quaker ancestry, and became philoso-

phical anarchist at the age of eighteen,



2) Maoturity

- After leaving Princeton, James 0'Neill found his son
Bugene a job in a maile.order house, the New York-Chicago Supply
Company, in which James had lnvested some of his wife's noney,
But Fugene O'Neill spermt most of his office hours reading,
Baudelaire, Dowson, Swinburne, Wilde and especially Nietzsche
wore among his favwrite writers,

In 1907 Jameg O'Neill and his eldest son J=mie, who was
8 years older than Eugene, were on tour again with "onte Cristo",
Ella kept. the apartment at Lucerme for herself and Eugene. The
following year, Bugene O'Neill left the mall-order eompany and
Lucerne and went to share a studio on Broaedway at Sixty.sixth
Street with two young artists, He did not do any work, but spent
most of his time loafing., Most of the girls he met were pro=-
stitutes or working-elass girls znd Eugene wes interested in
their way of 1ife. His experiences there provided ideas for
certain sceénes in the plays which he wrote later, To Eugene
0'Neill the women he met appeared t» be vietims of misfortune
with little hope in life, but he believed that they were capable
of loyalty to amyone who wae kind to them, His -4ona Christie
had as a herolne a prostitute with a heart of gold, Im his
first play which introduced a prostitute, called The Web
(19133, he showed how a girl was trapped by cirecumstances and
how hard she tried to reform herself, It was a hopeless struggle
becmise there was alwzys.some one who knew her past and drageed

her back into the profession.
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Eugene 0'Neill kept on romanticizing and defending the

whore's honor even 1in one of his last plays, The Iceman Cometh .

In this play it is apparent that his sentimentsl aympathy for
them remained the same,

During 1908-0% he enjoyed his philandering life even morec
because he knew it irritated his father., In late spring of this
yepr he met the first respectable girl who was to become his
first wife, Kathleen Jenkins, She was a member of an old New
York family, had dark hair, beautiful eyes and honey complexiocn,
3he worked as an artist's model before she met him. Kathleen
found him to be romantic and shyj; to her he was rystericusly
different from any man she had met, He wrote for her some
exotic and tender poems, He scemed to live in a strange world,
sShe perhaps ignored his black moods because she could not
understand them. Eugene Q0'Neill was not in a position to marry;
he did no work and was too restless to settle down, Jammes
0'Neill, who had to support Bugene, was strongly against the
marriage. James resented Kathleen for not being a Catholic and
thought she was after his money.v/ﬁames planned to send Eugene
on a gold-mining expedition; Ella had invested some money in a
mine in Spanish Honduras. The engineer Earl Stevens and his
wife were going to work there, Eugene took Kathleen to New
Jersey on Qctober 2, 1909, a week before he was to sail for
Honduras, and they were secretly married in Hoboken Trinity
Church, It might be that Bugene assumed that there would be nc
responsibility or consequences for him toc face after this

marriage; he was glad to go to Honduras the following week with
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the satisfaction that he had already married inspite of his
father's opposition, _

/Eugene O'Neill was disappointed with his life in Honduras
but at the same time was impressed by the black jungle. It
remained in his memory and was to serve as the background for

his The Emperor Jones - written in 1520, The vivid details in

the stage directions of this play reflect the tropliecal forest
which he and Stevens had traversed by night as well as by day.
Another of his early plays, written four years after this

trip, is5 ‘A Wife for Life', 1t has a gold-mining camp as

background and is about a young miner Jack and his older partner
who has a beantiful wife with whom Jack falls in love, It might
be that Eugene 0'Neill romanticized Mrs. Stevens as the hercoine
of the play.

After five months of disillusionment in the unexplored
jungle of Hondurss, Bugene, attecked by malaria, cagme to the
American consulate in Tepucigalpa and later sailed back to
New York.

In 1910 Kathleen bore him a son, HNeither his wife nor
his mother-in-law knew of his return, He avoided his wife and
first found ocut about his son's birth in the newspaper "World"
in which Mrs, Jenkins, in order te get back at James QO'Neill's
snobbish attitude to her daughter's marriage, put in.evary
detalls of their secret marriage for the publiec to read., Eugene
avoided his responsibility towards his wife and son by.letting
his Tather take him on a stage tour. Latery, in four of his

play53 Eugene seemed to try to excuse himselfl by introducing
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the idea of men being . trapped into marriage., This was an
attempt to cover his own sense of guilt.

In late spring of 1910, Eugene took to mea again after
8igning aboard a Norwegian bargue as an ordinary seazman, This
time, perhaps, it w2s not only his intensified wanderiust he
obtained from his gold-prospecting voyage to Honduras that set
him to sea but flso an escape from all the difficulties and
regponsibilities that were gathering arocund him, Identifyving
himself with nature Eugene felt free for the first time in his
life, It was now that he came in touch with regl life at the
lowest level, The waterfront with its sallors, dock workers,
stokers and ocutcasts attracted him most. Their kind of life was
what the American theatre had hitherts ignored. Tmuis began the
period which was to mould the expresslonistic dramatist in him,.
" Eugene O*Feill later expressed his rare moments of ecstasy and
freedom in one of his autobicgraphical plays, Long Day's Journey
Znto Night, The sea was the symbol of life amd freedom for him.
Bugere felt more at ease among the simple=hearted sailors than
among the people of his ouwn class,., Oncoe he declared in an
interview with Mary B, Mullett in “The American Magazine"

sveliife on the sea is ideal, The ship for a home,

gailors for friends, the sea for surrocundings,..
I like the“man cf the sea, He jis free of pocial

hypocriay
And on another cccasion he gaid:

The roots of a drama have to be in life,..My real
start a3 a dramatist was ?hen I got ocut of an academy
and among men on the sea,

With the seamen of the "Charles Racine", the first ship
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he worked on, Eugene could feel at case and from them he achieved
a Sense ol identification with nature, and had less fear of being
misinterpreted or unappreciated.

He spent ten months in Bucnos Alres, mostly at the
Sailor's Opera, a notorious waterfront salcon where he met a young
Englishman who later turned up as Smitty in three of his sea

plaj,rs.EJ

After trying his hand at odd jobs, working for a number
of companies, which lasted only a few wecks because he was less
interested in his work than in loafing around the waterfront, he
salled again on a British tramp steamer carrying mules to Durban,
South Africa; and sailed back on the same ship to Argentina,
From December 1310 to May 1911 he did not work at all but sank
to the lowest kind of living, sleeping on park benches and beg-
ging {for food and liquor;

During thig period, having an inner urge to write, he
wrote a number of romantic poems and made notes of what he saw
and heard, In May 1911, he Signed on board the "Ikalis"™, which
was to become S5.5. Glenceirn in four of his sean playsé(a) from
Buenos Alres to New York. It stopped at Trinidad which later

was the background for his The Moon of the Caribbees - which is

a poetic description of the seamen's life on board a tramp steamer
lying at anchor off a West Indian island, It hardly has any plet
at all but a sketch of how, in a drunken riot, one of the sailors
is stabbed.

Arriving at New York in June, he headed for the Fulton
Street rooming house named “Jimmy-the-Priest'sh, The idea of

seeing his wife or son nmever occurred to him. In July he signed
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azain as an able-bodied seaman on a passenger liner, the S.3.
"New York'" bound for Southdmpton together with another Irishman

named Driscoll. Later, in The Hairy dpe-, Bugene 0'Neill used

Driscoll, a stoker on this ship, as a model for Yank,
In August 1911, he landed again in New York and headed
back to "Jimmy-the-Priest's™ which KEugene used as the background

for The Iceman Cometh .

Hearing from a lawyer who represented Kathleen that she
was sulng him lor a divorce, Bugene 0'Neill helped to furnish
the ground for a New York State divorce. After that he went
to New Orleans where James Q'Neill offered his son a job acting
with his company. Later, he together with Jamie tried to wreck
the show. in various ways because of a grudge against his [ ather;
the tour ended prematurely, He felt ashamed and deserted the
company, heading back to "Jimmy-the-Priest's",

In early spring of 1912, Eugene O'Neill was so depressed
parﬁly tecause of his puilty conscicnce for the way he had
treated his father and partly because of his anxiety for his
mother who was sent to a Sanitarium, that he ¢ried to kill him-
sell, His attempted suicide failed because his friends intervened
in time. Afterwards, in 1919, BEugene 0'Neill wrote Excreism’
in which the hern, after having bteen saved by his friends [ rom
a suicide attempt, found his despair venish and became a new
person with revived hope in life. It might be that Bugene O!Neill
himself had assuaged his inner rage and then calmed down for a
time,

It was also during this year, on October 11, that his first
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marriage ended in divorce

thelr child.

In MAgust, Eugene O'Nelll became a reporter znd a columnist
of the "New London Telegraph', a morning daily newspaper.
Frederick P. Latimar, the publisher,was the first person who
believed that Eugene Q'Neill possessed a high literary ability.
While working there, he was a bad reporter but had a reputation
as a Ssardonic poet. He wrote poems for a column entivled
"Laconics"h,

In the early fall of 1912, he met a girl who was to become

the model for the young hercine in ~4h, Wildernessl . Her name

was Malbelle Scott. In spite of parental disapproval he and
Maibelle managed to meet secretly every day for more than a month,
In this play Eugene 0'Neill recalled nostalgically his courtship
of Maibelle and their plans for marriage which never materialized.
He fell ill and contfacted tuberculosis at this time, and
retired for five months to a sanitarium for tubercular patients,
Gaylord Farm in Wallingford, in December 1912, His impression
of Ggylord was preserved and later presented in his play ‘The
Straw , written in 1918-19. He portrayed himself ae Stephen
Murray, who preferred tﬁ have tuberculosis sp that he could go
to the sanitarium and rest than to work as a reporter,
It was during his stay at Gaylord that he started on the
cne-act plays., He completed sne play .ﬂ Wife fq;_Life*E{lQlj-lh},

During his convalescence Eugene Q'Heill read Dostoevski's
"The Idiot" and Strindberg's "The Dance of Death™ and was

tromendously influenced by these two works, as he once told
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Manuel Komroif, one of his editors at Boni and Liveright when
that house was publishing his Plays, that if it had not been

for these two works he might never have begun writing.9 It was
3trindberg's outloek on certain aspects of life and technique in
pPresenting them that appealed to O'Neill's temperament,

In 1913 he left Gaylord with the determination to be a
playwright. Tuberculesis formed the background of -The Web
(1913.1%) in which the heroine is a victim of the disease as also
is the hero of his later Play, Beyond the Horigon (1918), From
Jeptember 1911 te March 1914, while he was staying with the
Rippin femily, he completed six one-act Plays and a full-length
one. Though his early plays were cenly dramatic sketches, aome
of them contained vital elements which were to be illustrated in
his ) ater plays, such as the idea of a human being trapped by
faﬁe and his struggle to gain hope in 'The Web

In Fog (1913-14) Eugene 0*Noill also preaented his
favorite symbol of mystical forece: the fog which separates man
from his world of reality; it was used again in his latep play
Lo Day's Journe Lo _Night .,

It was James 0'Neill who paid for the publication of
Eugene's Thirst and Other One-det Plays 1n 1914, It was in
this ysar also that Eugene wrote to Professor George Pierce PBaker
whe had been conducting a poStegraduate course at Harvard called
"English L7 since 1905, and was admitted,

Leter, when asked what he had obtained from this course
in play writing, Bugene 0O'Neill answered, "Not much out of the

Actual classwork itself, Necessarily, most of what Baker had to
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teach the beginners about the theatre as s physical medium was
old atuff to ma"}o He also thought the plays he wrote at
Harvard were "rotten™,

He went to Greenwich Village in the fall of 1515, Thero
he met and made friends with many people at a ramshackle hotel
¢alled "The Golden Swan™ but the artists called it "The Hell
Hole', These pecple were to become the models for his later
Play The Iceman Cometh written in 1939, though the physical
sctting resembled Jiemy-the-Priest's,

Eugene Q'Nelll wg3, by the apring of 1916, in an advanced
State of alcoholism before he headed for Provincetown, At this
tine a.gm_up of Mmerican writers, led by George Cram Cook, a
Greek scholar and university profeasor from Davenport, Iowa,
establighed the gmerican Theatre group called *The Provinecctown
Players," The aim was to entourage young wrilters to express
their own talent as "an experiment®, O'Neill offered Hoynd
East for Cardiff to the group and 1t was promptly acecepted,
His next play which the Players chose was Thirst in which
Eugene played the part of the taciturn West Indian mulatto
Sailor opposite Louise Bryant Trullinger, the mistress of his
friend John Reed, Louilse had become Fugene's lover not long
aftor his arrivel at Provincetown., The play was not very |
Succeasful and was never produced agaln,

That summer, Bugene finished his cne-acter efore

re 8t (1916-17) which is about m man who commlts suleide
because of his wifa's nagging, This play showed clearly that
Eugene 0'Neill was influenced by Strindbergt'a "The St.mng_er, f
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a two-character play in which one person does gll the talking,
Before Broakfast 1is also a querulous momologue addressed by a
nagging and unimaginative wife to her sensitive husband,

In October 1916, the Provincetown Players moved to
Washington Square. During the thres years following, 0'Neill
wrote plays for them, He did not give up drinking but always
returned to his writing after he had recovered from the physicatl

exhaustion of his hang-over, By the end of April 1916, he had

finished four plays: 1ls , The Moon of the Caribbees, Ifhe
Long Voyage ilome , and In the Zone:-, The last named was a

record of his own experience during the war when he was arrested

together with a fricnd nemed Harold de Pole and accused of being
German sples,

His first full-length play, which won him fame and
recognition was Beyond the Horizon . In this play Eugene
0'Nelll expressed for the first time his philosophy of the
"nopelesa hope." It is e reallstic tragedy of a man's hunger
for romance and adventure, but he was caught in g love t rap and
lost his dreem, The play won him the Pulitzer Prize in 1920,

0fNeill met n.gnés Boulton in QOctober 1917, She was not
interested in the theatre, was s widow and had a daughter. They
were married on april 12, 1918, O'Nelll did not want to have
children becanse he did not like or understand them,

During his stay in Prﬁvincetnﬁ with Agnes until 1918,
he completed The Rope (1918), The Dreamy Kid (1918), ana

Where the Cross is Made {1918).11 The last named was an

experimental play at the end of which O'Neill introduced ghosts
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in the form of three sailors from a fhip which was wrecked throe
¥cars previously,

In November 1918 Eugene O'Ncill and Agnes went to live in
a house Agnes owncd in West Point Plcasant, New Jersey, which
is a scaside colony not far from New York., The following ycar
he finished - ghrig Christcgherscn,”IE and The Straw,

In May 1919 Eugene O'lcill and Agnes moved to a little
cottage in Truro which James 0'Neill bought as a gift for his
rrandchild. Eugene 0'Neill's first reaction to his wife's
preghancy was that the doctor had made a mistake, his second was
silence. He wanted Agnes alone without children and believed
that the baby would deprive him of the idealistic life of an
artist and would dcstroy their perfect relationship, He later
talled his son: "“The lusty heir to this branch of the clan.”13

However he liked his house at Peaked Hill Bar very wmuch
bccause it gave him the feeling of living in harmony with nature,
of wilderness and isolation. The closest neéighbors were three
miles away. The house faced north at the cdge of the Atlmtic,
Thﬂt Sunmer O'Neill and Agnes lived peacefully and contentedly,

r-tor?['](i% Cn Qctober 30, Agnes gave birth to a son, Shance Riudraighe
0'Neill., On February 3, 1920, 0'Neill's Bevonad the Horizon

was performed on Broadway for the first Lime, Most of the critics
hailed it as a great play.—the tragedy of a man who longs with
his whole soul te seek adventure beyond the horizon but whe is
confined by destiny to a placc and tasks that are not his,

At the moment of paternal triumph for Eugene's success

James O0'Reill found that he had cancer of thec intcstines,
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nﬂunhm,_;/
e
Bugene 0'Nelll spent most of the time at his bedside. The two

bocame friends and Bugene was very distraucht over the fact
that he might lose him at any moment., Ho brought his son to seco
his grand.father for the first time, On August 10, 1920, Jamcs
0'Neill died, with the telegram announcing Eugene's Pulitzer
Prize beside his bed, Ella became a person of strength and
personality after James' death, For some time before his death
she had triumphantly conquered her drug sddlction, Jamio O'Neill
was dellghted and promised his mother not to touch snother drink
again as long as she lived. This was to becomo the theme of
Eugene O0'feill'as 4 Moon for the Misbegotten ,

Within the following three Years, O'Nelll flnished scven

long plays. Three of them, #Anoa Christie (a revision of
"Chris Christopherson"), The Emperor Jones and Diff'rent

¥
were written In Provincetown, The last.named is more or less a

symbol of e certain type of New England woman. The play is about
a woman's bellef that her fianc;.should be differcnt from other
nen., Ihe Bmperor Jones, which Héa produced by the Provincetown
Players, received wlde praise, while jAnna Christle was less
successful becanse the audience misunderstood the ending as a

happy one. The story of The Empsror Jones- was based on what

an old circus man had told QO'Neill zbout .. . president Vilbrun
Guillaume Sam of Heitl who ruled his men with brutality and was
killed by the natives, O©'Neill also introduced the technique of
the drum which started at a normal pulse.beat and increased
gradually until everyone was keyed up and hypnotized by it.

This idea he obtalned from what he had read abosut religious
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feasts in the Congo. The play was popular and was produccd in
many cities such as Buencs Alres, Paris, Lcndon, Berlin and
Tokyao.,

Although he became famous and came into contaet with many
people, O'Keill remained socially detached and lonely, He still
returncd to the Hell Hole for company and drinks,

Tn 1921, Eugene O'Meill completed another play called

'The First Man, This play, though not a very successful one,

revealed bluntly the playwright's attitude towards marriccd life,
children and his feelings about . - parenthood, To Eugene
O'Neill a baby meant an intruder, a stranger who would steal
away his wife's love and upset his plan for their ideal 1ife
—Lravelling n2ll over the world, (this he fulfilled with
Carlotta, his third wife).—and deprive him of her.lh

Another play, written in thc same year as The First Man

2
which also was based on his own family-=notably his fathcor—was

The Fpuntain-, It contains the mystic belief that life gocs
on after death, The hero goes off on a search for the fountain
of youth,

All the while Bugenc 0'Neill kept on with his drinking
and often, when he was drunk, treated Agnes cruelly and cven
brutally.15 H¢ was hyper-sensitive and nervous cven whan he
was sober, and when the black mood took over the destructive
instinet overwhelmed him, Some of his riends alsc found syt
that he was terrified of thunderstormsa, He also had super-

stitigus fears and beliei‘s.l5

Barly in Qctober of 1521, when Anna Christie was being




rencarsced, 0'Nelll took his family with him to Hew York., Ho was
plcased with the manager, Arthur Hopkins, whom he considered an
ideal manager, and also Pauline Lord who played Anna. On

November 2, it wes performed and reccived Tavorable criticism,
fowever O'Neill was disappointed when most aof the erities mis—
understood the end as a “happy ending." It was his intentionn

that the ending of the play should be a “eomma™ not a "fFull stop"®,
he wantcd the audience to leave with a feeling that after the
curtain falls, Anna's life still goes on, and gives the impression
that "the old devil sea" (or fate) would be the last conqueror,
dnna is left to feel that her marricd life would be like that of

her neglected mother. ~juna Christie brought him ancther

Pulitzer Prige and made his reputation more widely known,

By the end of 1921, Bugene 0'Neill had finishcd ancthor al

his cutstanding plays ‘The Hairy Ace y 2 Symbolic fantasy about
a ship stoker's fruitless attempt to scarch for a place in
society., The man Yank, whose sense of belonging and pride in
being 'the vein of the steamer' is shattered by the sight of an
aristocratic young woman, and tries to seck a place in the
materialistic world where he might belong, Bugence 0'Neill
introduced masks in.the symbolic sense of the Oreek theatre
Tfor the first time in the scene on Fifth Avenue where society
people emerge from the church and stroll down the road, It was
procuced at the Provincetown Theatre on March 3, 1922,

v Only a few days before the opening of The Hairy Ape,

C'Neill's mother died of a brain Cumcr, and the train on which

Jamle aceompaniaed his mother's body back from the coast arrivea
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on the evening of the opening, The story of the train journey
told by Jamie shortly before his own desth was preserved by
Eugene and appeared twenty years later as -4 Mooy for the
Misbepotten in which the hero bears the name James Tyrone, JFe,

practically identical with Jamie Tyrone in Long Day's Journey

Into Night , James Tyrone, Jr,, represents O'Neill's brother and

the play contalns the details of his horror-ridden journey,

It was when Hopkins, the theatre manager, wanted to
replace the leading lady of - The Hairy Ape with Carlotta Moptoo
rey, his faworite actress, that Eugene O'Neill first mct the
woman who was to become his third wife, Carlotta’s first inpres.
sion of O'Nelll was that he was very rude, and they did not meet
again until four years later, Her real neme was Hazel Neilson
Tharsing; she was a convent.bred, continent-educated woman with
thick lustrous black hair, big dark smoldering eyes and a throaty
volce with cultivated and theatrical Speech, 3She had aristocratic
European blood {Danlsh and French.Dutch}; with her long neck she
was Sometimes called "The Swan".l?

In the middle of May of the same year, O'Neill met for
the first time his elder son who was then twelwve years old, The
childhood of Bugene Q*Neill, Jr.,, had not been a happy one; his
only companion was his mother Kathleen, who married George Pitt-
Smith when he was five years old, The meeting was suggested by
Kathleen, who thought her son necded his father's guiding hand,
The meeting was successful and O'Nelll agreed to direet his

son's education,

From 1922 to 1923 Eugene CQ'Neill was restless, The causcs
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of his emotional stress were his worry cver Jamle's health
which was in a deplorable state, his effort to be a father to
Eugene Jr,, his suflfering from decayed teeth and his griel over
his mother's sudden death, Amother big problem was his financial
buriden in supporting his elder son's educatisn, fgnes! family,
etc. It was also during this time that he tried to Tinish
Ihe Foungajn . It was natural that at the moment of his
trouble and inner conflict, his work was poory, too. The
Fountain- was a failure when it was performed three vears later.

48 for Shane, Bugene 0'Neill seemed detached Trom him and
usually let the maid, Mrs, George Clarke, whom Shane called
"Gaga', take charge of the boy, Torry Carlin, Eugene's intimate
fricnd from the Hell Hole, was also Shane's companion,lB

O'leilll bought a house in Ridgefield, Connecticut, fifty.
five miles from New YTork, to be his year-round home while Pesked
Hill was to remain his sumer Place. At Ridpefield Eugene
0'Neill could not find peace; his tension with Agnes caused by
Jealousy on both sides prew higher, Agnes tried to flirt, to
get back at Eugene's popularity with women; she also liked
parties while Eugene wanted peace. It was during this period
thet he wrote Welded (1923), a play with the theme af"love.
hate® which had been treated by Strindberg. It is the story
of a passionately idealistic marriage between two intensely
possessive people, Both herc and heroine are fated perpetually
to act out of"love-hategt at a feverish pitch., The husband
E0es to a prostitute and the wife tries to commit. adultery, The

couple are equally the victims of their OWN .passion and Jealousy and



are welded together by possessive love,

When Jamie died on November 8, 1923, Fugene [eclt terribly
lonely, He became intoxicated and it was Apnes who buried Jamie
in the family plot in St, Mary's Cemetery, dfter losing his
will to 1ive when his mother died, Jamiec drank himself to death,
lsaving 0'Nelll scme o 73,000 richer,

During the year 1923, O!Neill tackled the problem of race

when he began writing All God's Chillun Got Wings , a play

about marriage between a negro and a white woman, They are
chaincd together by "lave~hate" and cannot break away. It is
also a symbol of a woman trapped in marriage with a husband who
is socially unaccepted—somehow it is similar to Ella's position
when she married James O'Neill, On the surface the play seemed
to be a study of miscegenation, but it is unconsciously pre-
occuplied with the conflicts within the dramatist's own family,

It might be that at the time 0'Neill wrote the play he was think-
ing about his mother's suffering at the hands of both Jamie and
her husband. In this play, 0'Weill alse introduced into the
American theatre not only the racial problem but alsc the techa
nique of abstract Stage-scttings by making Jim's flat appear
smaller in each scene in order to symbolize the suffocating
atmosphers. 1In this he was ahead of his time.

In 1923,0'Neill began his new play Desirc under the

Elms . It is a tragedy in which the central theme is Greed,
As in Se¢ many of his good plays the characters are not only
true tc 1lifc but larger than life, To O'Neill Greed was the

corruption of human character, Somehow this play also reflects



O'Neill's sub-conacious grief for his mother's death, This

play also introduced QfNeill's idea of Greek tragedy for the
first time; the theme of incest and infanticide is a combination
of Hippolytus and Medea of Buripides, The play was ready for
performance in 1924,1%

The production of Welded was a failure, and the prospect
of All God's Chillun Got Wings aroused considerable discussion
owing to the fact that this play concerns racial problems,

While he was waiting for the production of Desire Under the
Elms O'Neill received a gold medal for drama from the National
Institute of Arts and Letters on June 1, 1924,

By the beginning of September 1924, O0'Neill had almost
finished his first draft of Mareco Millions when he decided to
make a change by closing his house in Ridgefleld and Laking
Agnes, who at that time was pregnant again, to & rented house in
Bermuda, Fanily life made him nervous and restleses the demands
of friends, even of his aown family, and especially the role of
a father, made him feel extremely ureasy. This eventually
resulted in a flight not only from his fanily but also from him-
self. In December 1924 he took a cottage called "Campsea" in
Bermuda. He did not wait to See Desire Under the Elms which

wonl widespread admiration when it was produced.

At "Campsea" he began writing 'The Great God Brown and
also rewrote Marco Millions , In January 1925 he made up his
mind to atop drinking and smoking and just live for his work,

He finished The Great God Brown by the end of March, 1925,

He himself described it ag '"a devastating, crucifying new one
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and said, "I think it's grand stuff, much deeper and more poeti-
cal than anything I've ever done before,"eo

In this play OfNeill revcaled his relationship with his
parents and Jamie; he used masks to dramatize a transfer of
personality from one man to another, It is one of the best
examples of his lyrical writing; the style is well suited to the
theme and action,

C'Neill's unhappy relationship with his parents was
transferred to bis own children, He could not understand them
any better than James 0'Ncill had understcood him, He also was
an extremely uneasy father. Though he was fond of his eldest
son his affection was detached and never reached the level of
paternsl devotlon, On May 1h, Agnes gave birth to a bsby girl
whom they later called Qona.

By the end of April O'Neill finished the final draft of
Lazarus Laughed which was staged sometime later in 1928,

At the end of June, O0'Heill reccived an honorary degree
from Yale University as the first American playwright to receive
serious recognition in Europe,

In July 1926, 0'Neill toock his family to a rented cabin
at the edge of one of the Belgrade Lakes in Maine, Carlotta
Monterey was there too, and they met for the First time since
thelir encounter at the Plymouth Theatre in 1922, In the moan—
time, Carlotta had married and divorced her third hushand,

Ralph Barton, That summer evcn Barbara Burton, the ¢leven.year-
old daughter of Agnes, could sense the beglnning of the end of

0'Neill's marriage,?l He stayed in Maine until QOctober, for
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Juring this time he had started to write a new play Strange
Intcrlude (1926-27) and did not want to leave until he had
.finishcd the first part, The play reflects O'Neill's own
persistent yearning for Carlotta and his mentsl conflict because
his conscicnece disturbed him and he had a feeling of gullt in
deserting his family,

During the fall of 1926, O0'Nelll spent a month in New
York; he sent Agnes and the children ahead to Bermuda. He visited
Carlotta and poured out the story of his unhappy childhood-—how
he had had no home, mo parental warmth, etc., As Carlotta her-
self once told an acquaintance: "..—-my maternal instinct came
out—this man must be looked alter, I thought, He broke my heart

___né2

Q'Neill and Carlotta agréed that there must be some change
or some new arrangement, since 0fNeill was disturbed by his
household which wags full of noise made by the children, and the
family's increasing social activities interfered with his
Writing.

Though O'Neill went back to Bermuda to his wife and
children, he confessed to a friend: "“Emotlonally I'm still up
in the air"?3 Carleotta was rarcly out of his mind, But it was
not until Nevember 1927 that he finally decided to leave Apnes,
Before that, O'Neill had tried to make the best of his home
life in Bermudaj he refurnished the house and called it
"Spithead", Q©'Heill seemed further away thbn ever {rom Agnes,

In May he left for New York to discuss :Marce Millions

and  Strange Interlude: with Lawrence Langner, the producer of
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the Theatre Guild, but most of all it was his wish to sce
Carlotta, The reason he prcferred Carlotta to Agnes, as he
teld Langner, was that Carlotta was a pgood manager, able to
ocrganize the material side of his life—arranging for railroad
tickets and so forth—while Agnes could seldom plan ahead; she
was easy-going and helpless, and needed to be losked after by
him, At the end of May he went back to Spithead again and
after a2 few more vimes of going back and forfh, he finaliy went
to New York in November 1927 and this time never returned to
live in Bermuda again,

From the end of Noverber 1927 to the beginning of February
1928 0'Neill lived in the Hotel 9Yentworth at L6th Street, New
York Clty. By this time he and Carlotta had decided to get
marricd,

On January 8, 1928, the New York Times Sunday drama
secticn gquoted the opinions of putstanding Eurcpean writers,
namely Bernard Shaw, Franz Werfel, Thomas Mann, Maxim GCorky,

Huge Von Hefmannschal and Gerhardt Hauptmann, about O'Neill's
2k

Stature in World literature which they believed was considerable

Marco Millions , when it was perfommed, turned cut to

be not a very succesasful play, but Stranpe Intcrlude became

0fNeill's biggest hit and won him his third Pulitzer Prize.
When O'Neill was referring to this play later in 1932, he
commenteds:

As for 'Strange Intcerlude,' that is an attempt at the
new masked psychological drama...without masks.—a success.
ful attempt, perhaps, in so far as it concerns only sur-
faces and their immediate subsurfaces, buE not where,
cccasionally, it tries to probe deeper, 2
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0'Neill left the United States with the notes for his
new play Dynamog . He gave the house in Provincetown to Eugene
Jr. He and Garlotta headed for England and France. He kept his
destination a secret from everyone but & few of his closest
friends., In Lendon, a close friend, Kenncth Macgowan, hearc
that O0'Neill was perfectly hrppy for the first time in his life,
In a letter 0'Heill wrote:
«oedfl drean I had given up even the hope of ever dreaming
again has come true! .,.,how humbly pgrateful cone should be
for it ... To Ssay that Carlotta and I are in love in the
sense of any love I hawve ever expericnced before is weak
and inadequatc ... We 'belong' to each other] We fulfill
each other! 26
In mid-February Agnes scught for a legal separation,
Eugene O'Neill and Carlotta went to France at the end of February,
rented 4 villa called "Willa Marguerite' in the little villape
of Gucthary, in the Pyrenees near the Spanish frontier, In tlie
mcantime the news came that Aghes delayed divorce precedings
becanse she felt his financial offer was ungenercus., O'Neill
also had Finished his new play Dynamo 1in September. The play
was about a young man who loses his faith in God and places it
in science which is symbolized by a dynamo. His love for his
mothor and the dyname kills his girl friend, The play ends with
the herc committing suicide by flinging himsel{ inte the dynamo,
The play was not a successful osne because at that time
0'Nelll himsell was in a disturbed mental state; his sense of
guilt about Agnes and the children and his fear of being sought
out by reporters made him very nervous,

O'Meill told George Jean Nathan scon after he finished

the play: ",..Dynamo is a symbolical and factual biogrsphy of
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what 1s happoning in a large secction of the Americen (and not
only fmerican) soul right now'e’

Through the character of Reubon Lipght, the hers, 0O'Neill
revealcd his secarch for the combined love of a mother and a
mistress which he thoughtwas in Carlotta.,

Q'Neill sent his copy of ‘Dynamo - tc the Theatre Guild
early in 3eptember and planned to go to China with Carlotta,

The domestic upset and Agnes's asking for more money to Support
their children, made it impossible for him to return to Wew York.
H; turned to hate Agnes and cven set up detectives to investligatc
her past in order to force her out of her battle, At this time
01Keill felt that Agnes was his enemy; he was furious with her
and the children because he had deserted them. His bad cons-
cience made him put the blame on her and complain that the whole
thing was her fault and that he had been double-crossed and
annoyed by Agnes 1ln every conc<élvable way, The manner in which
she had treated him had hurt his pride and had upset his faith

in human nature,

He sailed from Marseillces to Singaporc and landed in
Salgon at the end of Octobecr, Early in November he reached
Hong Kong and then Shanghail in mid-November, Wherever he went
he could not escape his sense of gullts he took up drinking
again and the result was physical and meéntal collapse, HcC was
confined to the Country Hospital, Shanghal, b¥ 2 nervous break-
dewn and bronchitis. On December 18, he and Carlotta left for
Manila, DNowhere could Q'MNeill find peace of mind, In late

January 1929, they Salled back to France, there they rented
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ancther house, the Villa les Mimos~s ~t Cap dfAil, where O'HNelll
eoulil scttle down to work npring somehow the bitterness was
burned out of him by his sevcre illness in China,

On July 1, 1929, Asnes had [iled a suit lor divorce; she
charged 0'Neill with deserting her and c¢laimed onc-third ol
0'Meill's net income and in addition C'Neill should pay % 2,400
a yenr for the support of Shane and Oona until they came of age
or married. A divorce was grantocd the next day. O0'Keill and
Carlotta were married on July 22, 1929, in Paris, after a year
and a half of living together, They moved into a2 45-room chateau

calied "Lc Plessish,

Soon after his new marriage O0'Neill began toc write anothor

long play, Mourning Becomes Elegtra , a trilogy in which he

imitated the Greeck sense of fate and the old belief of gods and
supernatu.cal retribution with a modern psychological conflict
cf"lovewhate "that runs in a New England family like a curse, The
development of QO'Neill's Electra is based on sound medern c¢one-
cepts of psycholorical and biplogical causc and effect instead of
being inspired by the furies, In the first part Lavinia
represents Puritanism and rejects earthy love. She causes the
death ol her mother Christine and the lover and is haunted by
guilty conscience, 0'Kelll also used the Freudian €oncept to
¢xplain Christine's hatred lor her husband as sexual frustra-
tion. O'Nelll preserved the feeling of fate in the Greek Sense
cf tragedy without any beneflit of the superﬁgtural. His modern
setting for his Electra was New Epngland which he thought was

'"best possible dramgtically [or Greek plot of erime and
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retribution chain of fate—Puritan conviction of man born to
sin and ;:u.u:'lis..!'u'memt.,..."'E'B |
The advantage of staying abroad was that C'Neill had
a good chance to assess the oplnions of the European critics
and audiences of himself ashdramatist; his playswere being
performed 1ln many coumtries, In May 1930, the Moscow Xameroy
Theatre, one of the world's most famous modern theatres,
which was touring the capitals of Europe, selected performance .
two aut of the three straight dramas of its repertoire the
works of an ™uncultured Yank"Eg o
The two plays chosen by the Kamerny for performance
at the Pigalle Theatre in Peris wore Desire Under the Elms
and 1 God's Chillun Got Wings . 0'Neill was very proud
and grateful, Talrov, the director of the Kamerny, thought
O'kelll was "the most brilliant, the most important among
contemporary playwrights“.3o
' Eugene O'Neill worked very hard on Mourning Becomes
Electra wuntil October 19, then left for a month's trip to
Spain and Morocco, He and Carlotta sailed from Lisbon for
the Canary Islands on February 25, 1931, 0'Neill took "the
play with him to work on, By April 9, after their arrival
in Paris, via Casablanca and Trngler, he completed and sent
the script of Mourning Becomes Electrs to the Theatre
Guild. O'Neill sailed back to &merica in May for the pro-
duction of the pley, staying in a New York hotel, Their

happiness was marred by the suiclde of Carlotta's ex-husband,

Ralph Barton, driven out of his mind by having lost Carlotta
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whom he still loved.

To the préss, 0'Heill stated that living abroad had
enabled him "to Sco America more clearly® and "to appreciatce
it morc".Bl He said of the Europcan thocatres: "Europe looks
with hope to America's dynamic quality... The American stage
has a freshness the theatrical world qf Europe lacks."32

In Junc, the 0'Neills rented a house in Northport,
Long Island, for four months, There the sound of the light-
house fog horn reminded 0'NFeill of "Monte Cristo Cottage"
in Few London and made him go there to look at it, The

nostalgia of his youth was noted and beceme the plot of his

‘Ah, Wildernegs! written in 1932,

While O'Neill was in Long Island he met Shane and Oona
once, but the meeting was not a successful one owlng to his
stubborn hatred for Agnes. Bugene Jr., who thern was only
twenty«one and a top-rankinghonor scholar of Greek Clasaics,33
married a Forest Hills girl, Elizabeth Green, on June 15.

The O'Neills did not attend the wedding even though the cere-
mony took place in Long Island not far from Northport.

Eugcne Jr. visited his father after his honeymoon and O'Neill
.was impressed by his knowledge of Greck tragedy in which he
sald his son far outranked him.3u

On October 27 DMpurning Becomes Electra® had its open-

ing ad the critics hailed it as "a masterpiece——first play
of lasting importance®,..etc. The production cof the play was
the climax of 0'Neill's career, He was to finish six more

plays during his lifc time,
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In mid-November the 0'Neills went for a vacation in
Georgia and decided that they wanted to live there. - Before
he left New York he met Gerhart Hauptmann who had a. high
opinion of O'Neill as

«vo00ne 0Ff the really great figures in modern drama,
C'Meill i1s an cexample of what I mean when I say -America

1s preducing, and will produce in ever greater quantitics,
an_art I fecl is indigenous; it belongs to the dmerican
soil... The drama, Hgder him, has found a new type of
artistic expression,

In 1532 the Q*'Neills left New York for Sea Island

‘where they designed and built their home called "Casa Cenottal

{a mixture of their first names). They thought it was "the

Blessed Isles" about which O'Neill wrote in Mourning Becomes
Ejectrai. In the fall of 1932 0'Heill bepan his ﬂnlﬁ full-
length comedy, after waking up one mor'ning with the dream of
the plot and every scene of the play vividly built up in his

- imagination. Within six weeks he turncd out Ah, Wilderness!

another autoblographical play which 0'Neill described as:
"It's a nostalgia for a youth I never had”gﬁ The setting is
in a large small-town in Comnecticut in the summer of 1906,
Young Richard Miller's love affair resembled O'Neill's own
relationship with Maibelle Scott in 1912—with the secret
dates, parental disapproval and the exchange of love letter
througn'a go-between who resembled Maibelle's best friend

- Mildrcd Culwver, The Miller family in thc play resembles his
Triend Arthur McGinley's family ﬁhosc gomesticity O'Nedill
adnired and envicd, O'Neill also drew an idcalized James

O'Neill in the character of Nat Miller, Tt might be said



that this play portrays the bright side of his own family

just as -Long Day's Journey Into Night 1is a pessimistic

viegw ol thz O0'Weill home. ©O'Ncill relerred to the play as
a "Comecdy of Recollection" and explained:

My purpose was to write a play truc to the spirit
of the dmerican large small-town at the turn of the
century, Its qunality depended upon atmosphere, senti-
ment, an exact evocation of thc mood of a dead past.
To me, the America which was {and is) the real
imerica found its unique expression in such middle-
class families ns the Millers, among whom so many of
oIy DWE generation passed from adolescence into man-
hood, 37

In October, Eugene worked on Days Without End- ,
the last play in which he used masks, He cglied it:
. a modern miracle play {(which} reveals a man’'s
search for truth amid the conflicting doctrines of
;ggtﬂ?ggrn world and his return to his old religlous
The play, which was completed in 1933, is about a man
who has lost his faith in God, runs sway from the truth of the
existence of the God of love, When he (inds love and marries,
the more peace and security he [inds in his wife's love the
more he is héunted by the recurrent dread that she mipght die
and he would be left alone again, without love, So he deli-
berately destroys that love and happliness by committing
“adultery. A priest advises him to overcome his mental conflict
by returning to God and regaining his lost faith, He suceseds
and obtains his wife's forgiveness after making his peace
with God.
The play is transparently based on his relationship

with Carlotta, like ¥elded: suggeste in many respects his
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relationship with Agnes.39

Ay Wilderness!, when perfﬁrmed, wag generally
appreciated and Metro-Goldwyn=Mayer relecased a film version
in 1935. But Dayg HWithout Exd was disliked by the critics.
Bugene tried to explain why it had failed:

The critics didn't understand it and also it wasn't
very good, Thet may account for it,.. They took the
easy line of attack that I must have gone back to
Catholicism 2nd the play was Catholic propaganda—eand
then let qfﬁir pseud c=sophisticated prejudices shriek
anathemas'" -
By the end of 1934 Eugene O'Ncill scemed to retreat
into his past in which he tried to search for an answor to
the meaning of 1ife, During his last twenty years he saw
fewer people and had leas contect with his contemporariesn,
Az he often said, 1t would be wonderful if he could just write
and write alone, never having to earn money Ffrom producing
Plays or even going near the theatre,
Sherwood Anderson, who visited O'Neill at his hcuse on
Aprily 1935, said:
I did feel death in his big expensive house. He has
drawn himself away, lives in that aolitary p%&ﬂﬂ, seeing
practically no one. He needs his fellow men,tl
In the fall of 1934, the Irish playwright Sean 0!'Casey,
whom Bugenc wished to meet, was in amerlca for his production
of "Within the Gatea", The two, when they met, thought highly
of each other, O'Casey even told O'Neill that the latter
wrote like an Irishman and not like an p.merj_can,]"'z which
Fleascd O'Nejll,

By Spring of 1935 Eugene 0'*Neill had nearly finished
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tl.e sccnarias of three of lis cycle of plsys,

The first play was named A Touch of the Poet , the

second was called  More Stately Mansions .

‘& Touch of the Foet was also, smotionally and psy-

chologically, the story of his cwn family, He did not finish

it until 1%42, It is about a man, Cornelius Meledy, son of

an ITish saloon keeper, who fought his way up the social scale

in Ireland, He is 2 disgraced officer who tock part in the

Napoleonic War on thc English side and then emigrated to the

lnited States with his wife and child, He becomes a saloon

kecper and has many characteristics similar to James D‘Neill.uh
His relaticonship with his wife is of a "love-hate"

kind. His dsughtep Sara is a typical O0'Neill hercine: her

character recalls thosc of Abbie Putnum in ' Desire Under the

Elms- and Josie Hogan in - 4 Moon for the Misbegotten. ]

During this time Shane made a last visit to Casa Genotta,
It was a short visit and an unsatisfactcory one because at
that time Bugene Q'Neill had plunged so deep into the past
that he ignored almost all his rclatives and friends except
his wife¢ and his eldest son of whom he was still fond,

By the end of dugust the 0'Neills moved again because
they found that the climatc of Sea Island was too hot ard hupld.
They rented a house on the élopcs of Magnolia Bluff, overlook.
ing Puget Sound, Seattle.

On Novembar 12, 1936, O'Neill was awarded the Nobel
Prize in Literature together with 240,000, and was requestcd

to go to Stockholm on December 10, to receive it from
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King Gustaf, He was not in sufficicently good heslth to attend
the Nebel =swards cercmony; he wrote a speech that was rcad for
him in Stockholm. One part of the speech said:
« .« the debt my work owes to that greatcst genius of
all modern dramatists, your August Strindberg.../whose/
influence runs clearly through more than a few of my
plays.., I am only too proud of my debt to Strindberg,

ln December 1936, the O°'Neills arrived in San Francisco
and a few days later both entered Merritt Hospital, Eugene for
an appendectomy and Carlotta because of a severe cold,

In 1937 O'Neill's health deteriorated, After having
hrd his appendix removed, he suffered from kidney trouble,
neuritis, and the tremor of his hands was worse (Latcer it was
diagnosed »s Parkinson's discane).

Casa Genotta was scld. The 0'Neills decided that they
wanted to buy a permanent homc in Northern Celifernia, On
Fehfuary 1?7, The Swedish ConSul in San Francisco, Carl E,
Wallerstedt, presented the gold medsl and embossed diploma of
the Nobel Prize to, 0'Necill at Merritt Hospital. Tho diploma
stated that he had been chosen from among all the playwrights
in the world "for his creative drama, for characters markcd
by virility, honesty and strong emstions  as well as for
depth of interpretation.n

The O*Neills bought land in the San Ramon valley for
building a house, Eugene, at that time frustrated by ill
health end inability to work, vented his roge on Carlotta
who devoted herself te protecting her husband’'s privacy, In

latc October 1937 they moved to their new housc built in

VAL SR A
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Chinese styles they lnateor cuolled it "Tas House™ which means
in Chinese *The right way of lifem.

Shane, who was then interested in writing, went to
scek his father's advicc and guidance but was disappointéd;
he failed to estsblish a close reclationship with his father,
the man he admired most in the wnrld.q?

By October Eugene 0'Neill finished the first draft of

. - 48
his fourth cycle play Morc Stately Mansions , At the end

of 1938, he was down with rheumatism, Betwcen June 8, and
November 26, 1939 he put aside the cycle plays and started
rt.c: write ‘The Jceman Cometh ., By this time he was more
deeply involved with the past and sct the play in 1512
which was the year of his attompted sulcide. His friend
Saxe Cummins helped to find him a copy of "The Flsme," an
Anarchist tract published by Hippolyte Havel in 191h,h9
which was the basis of the idea of the anarchist movement in
his play,
The play is about the down-and-outers at the Hell
Hole, Most of the characters are based on O0'MNeillts alcd
acquaintances; they just go on living in their world of makeo
beliefy of pipe-dresms about a bright future. When Hickey,
a salesman, advises them to face the truth, with which he
believes they will be able to attain peace, all their
Erievances are accentuated and their lives seem unbearable,
The play is a triumph of characterization and expres—
sion of the feelings of the various characters. It lays

bare the secrct soul of a man with an understanding of life,
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Afterward Hickey, who acts strangely because he is trying to
convince himself that he is free from any pipe dream and a
sense of guilt after killing his wile in order to end her
sufferings, confesses his crime and is taken away. The
others are relieved and go back to their pipe dreams,

o

ol Immediately after finishing -The Iceman Cometh' .

O'Neill started his new painful revelation of his own family

reletionships, "Long Dav's Journey Intg Night , in the summer

of 1939, 1t tock him two years to finish the play. The four
characters are his father, mother, Jamie and himself, Eugene
0'Neill intended it to be published twenty.live yvears after
his death, He presented the manuscript of the play to
Carlotta ﬁn their twelfth wedding anniversary. He wmote:

Doarest : I give you the original script of tgis ol ay
of old sorrow, written in tears and blood---, -9

On November 29, 1945, O'Keill sealed the envelope con-
taining the script of the play, with the assistance of Bennett
Cerf and Saxe Commins, and put it in the safec at Randem Housc,
Before leaﬁing, he dictated and signed a covering docurntent,
asking Ccrf to countersign it:

_ I am this day depositing with you, on conditisn that
I not be opened by you until twenty-five years after
my death, a sealed copy of the manuscript of an origi-

nal play which I have written, entitled Long Day's
Journey Into Night,

His health worsened. During 1942 hc began to write a
new script but could not finish it, It was a drama called

The Last Conguest- .,

AL that time Oona who was not yct scventecn had become
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popular and was voted "New York's Number One Dcbutante,
This irritated O'Neill very much. In spite of unhappingss
and distress caused by the war which had sprcad all over the
world and by his annoyvance with his own children, he managed
to writc again and finished only ohc more play, -Hughie-,
- put of three or four he inthdéd_to write, The play is
also an illustration ol his theory that man cannot live
without illusions, he must cling to his pipe dream for his
world of make~belief to be able to survive, The play is
largcly » monologue of =n stiall-time gambler (Brie Smith. The
play was set in 1928, It was never produced in his lifetimc,
, buring the summer and £all of 1942 0'Neill began

writing his last published play A4 Moon for the Misbegotten

It is based on on episode in the 1lifc of his brother Jamie,
He gave the principal character the name of Jamioc Tyrone once

again as in Long Day's Journcy Into Night 2nd described

how he lost his overbearing self-confidence and beecage a
hopeless aleoholic who could not be saved even by the true
love of an unselfish woman,

The tremor of his hands wos so bad that he could harde
ly writc at all after 1943, He was miserable beesuse he
could still think and yet his hand refused to co-operate,

He teld Carlottea that his thoughts flowed [rom his brain,
through his arm and into his pencil, there was no other
process by which he could wTite.EE In June, he heard that
Oona who was anly cightcen had married Charles Chaplin,

0'Neill rejected her completely and never mentioned her name

n
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eégain, As for Shane, 0'Neill hed known ss little of his
Bordid lif'e a3 his own father had known about his. Shane began
to live a diseolute life like his father at the same age:
he even tried more than once to commit suicide, He later
took narcotics.

The Q'Neills were homeless again*.ﬁrter selling Tao

House, they moved to San Francisco to live in a hotel,

Huntington Hotel, because O'Neill's bad health needed medical

care, Before leaving, he destruyed the first two doubles-

length plays of his cycle: ' The Grecd of the Meek and And
Give Me Death RE - |
By the end of 1945, the 0'Neills returned to New York.

and Broadway, Eugene met some of his old friends and resumed
a kind of social contact as a break in his shut.in 1life with
Carlotta,

In 1946 the 0'Neills moved again to a penthouse apart-
ment at 35 East Bighty-fourth Street, During the rehearsal
of Thg Iceman Cometh O'Neill met his gldest son., In
October, The Iceman Cometh was performed. Among those who
admirelthis play was Tennezsee Williamaz, Years later, Williams
aaid "0'Net:l gave birth to the American theatre and died for
jeu, o

Moon r the Misbegotten wase performed on an
cut-of-town tour in a number of mid.western cities, The
police closed it in Detroit, Saying the whole theme is
obacene,

In the early spring of 1947, 0'Nelll waes 5till ecager
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For social contact; he even arranged secret mcetings with

4 young actresS-.Patricia Neal-——four or five times, went

to the wedding party of Shirlee Weingarten, his secretarial
assistant from the Guild, and attended a stag dinner, but
Carlotta's patience reached its limit when he offered to pay
his old friend, Fitzi's (Eleanor Fitzgerald) hospital bill,
She walked out and left O'Neill, & few days later he slipped
and f&ll, fracturing his left shoulder and was sent to
Doctors Hospital, New York. Carlotta was ill and was sent
there too. They were reconciled and decided to. go to Boston
where 0'Heill would retreat again into an isolation with her,
Carlotta bought a house on a e¢liff overleoking the Atlantic,
Marblehead Neck, twenty-five miles from Boston., There he
heard that Shane had been arrested for possessing heroin,
C'Neill refuscd to have anything to do with him, Shane
pléaded guilty to a charge of narcotics addiction and went
to Lexington Hospital in Kentucky for treatment; no one
produced the § 500 bail.,

0'Neill was not only hurt but also felt the guilt of

his son’s filure., Shane had tried to turn to him for guid-
ance and advice which Eugene failed to provide him; he went
to see his father at the hospitazl but was not welcomed, Bugene
could see that his son's life was far more sordid than that
of some characters in his plays. Shane could hardly hold
any Jjob long enough to support his wife, Catherine Givens,
and their children. They managed to live for some time orl

Catherine's inheritance from her mother, who was murdered
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By 1948 0'Neill realized that because of his inability
to hold a pen he could never finish the cycle of plays., With
ne work te do, nothing could fill his 1ife any more and he
was a tragic figure and a sore sight to his friends who visited
him, He spoke of suicide and in 1949, he joined the Buthanasia
Society ol America whose purpose was to legalize the '"act or
practice of mercifully ending the life of an incurable suf-
ferer"55 He lost contact with Bugene Jr. whs in 1347 was
often drunk while teaching class. The later appeared on
radio and T.V. and also acted in several amateur theatricals
in Woodstock, He had left his second wife and was living
with a woman—Ruth Lander whom he later asked to marry but
she left him—sSaying "---there was insanity in his eyes."55

Eugene Jr,'s conflict with Carlotta was worse and he hinted
that his father's choice was Carlotta, He committed svicide
ir 1950 and 0O'Neill never mentioned his name agaln except

when he told Carlotta that they could publish -Long Day's

dourney Into Night ._'because his elder son was dead, 57

In February 1951, 0'Neill Ffell and broke his knee.
He was taken to Salem Hospital, Carlotta was also taken
to the same hospital the following day, suffering from
bromide poisoning, She was later removed to MeLean Hospital,
Belmont, Mass,

In March, 0'Neill was removed to Doctors Hospital

again, being a subject to hallucination and nervous disorder,

During this time mest of his old friends from Provincetown
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came back to O0'Neill because of Carlotta's absence, Qnce
Ruth Lander, Eugene Jr,'s friend, came to visit 0O'Neill and
he embraced her,

In May O'Neill had a reunion with Carlotta from whom
he had lived separately for a while according to the doctor's
advice. 4nd again he had to say farewell to his old friends
of whom Carlotta disapproved,

In March 1952, out of gratitude to her, he presented
Carlotta the absolute ownership and control of all his plays
alter his death.58

During the early part of 1953, O0'Neill destroyed his
cycle plays of which he had only finished a second draft,
for he did not want anyone else to work on them after his
death., He then gave up his last hold of life. On November

27y 1953, Eugene Q'Neill died of pneumonia,
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